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CONCLUSIONS OF LAW 
 
 
The Medical Assistance Program is established pursuant to Title XIX of the Social 
Security Act and is implemented by Title 42 of the Code of Federal Regulations (CFR).  
It is administered in accordance with state statute, the Social Welfare Act, the 
Administrative Code, and the State Plan under Title XIX of the Social Security Act 
Medical Assistance Program. 
 
Home Help Services (HHS) are provided to enable functionally limited individuals to live 
independently and receive care in the least restrictive, preferred settings.  These 
activities must be certified by a physician and may be provided by individuals or by 
private or public agencies. 
 
Adult Services Manual 165 (5-1-2013) (hereinafter “ASM 165’) addresses the 
overpayment and recoupment process for HHS: 
 

GENERAL POLICY 
 
The department is responsible for correctly determining 
accurate payment for services. When payments are made in 
an amount greater than allowed under department policy, an 
overpayment occurs. 
 
When an overpayment is discovered, corrective actions must 
be taken to prevent further overpayment and to recoup the 
overpayment amount. The normal ten business day notice 
period must be provided for any negative action to a client’s 
services payment. An entry must be made in the case 
narrative documenting:  
 
• The overpayment. 
• The cause of the overpayment. 
• Action(s) taken to prevent further overpayment. 
• Action(s) taken to initiate the recoupment of the 

overpayment. 
 
FACTORS FOR OVERPAYMENTS 
 
Four factors may generate overpayments:  
 
• Client errors. 
• Provider errors. 
• Administrative errors. 
• Department upheld at an administrative hearing. 
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Appropriate action must be taken when any of these factors 
occur. 
 
Client Errors 
 
Client errors occur whenever information given to the 
department, by a client, is incorrect or incomplete. This error 
may be willful or non-willful. 
 
Willful client overpayment 
 
Willful client overpayment occurs when all of the following 
apply:  
 
• A client reports inaccurate or incomplete information or 

fails to report information needed to make an accurate 
assessment of need for services.  

 
• The client was clearly instructed regarding their reporting 

responsibilities to the Department (a signed DHS-390 is 
evidence of being clearly instructed). 

 
• The client was physically and mentally capable of 

performing their reporting responsibilities. 
 
• The client cannot provide a justifiable explanation for 

withholding or omitting pertinent information. 
 
When willful overpayments of $500.00 or more occur, a 
DHS-834, Fraud Investigation Request, is completed and 
sent to the Office of Inspector General; see BAM Items 700 - 
720. 
 
No recoupment action is taken on cases that are 
referred to OIG for investigation, while the investigation 
is being conducted. The specialist must:  
 
• Complete the DHS-566, Recoupment Letter for Home 

Help.  
 
• Select Other under the reason for overpayment. Note 

that a fraud referral was made to the Office of Inspector 
General.  
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• Send a copy of the DHS-566, with a copy of the DHS-
834, Fraud Investigation Request to the Michigan 
Department of Community Health Medicaid Collections 
unit at: 

 
MDCH Bureau of Finance 
Medicaid Collections Unit 
Lewis Cass Building, 4th Floor 
320 S. Walnut 
Lansing, Michigan 48909  

 
• Do not send a copy of the recoupment letter to the client 

or provider. MDCH will notify the client/provider after the 
fraud investigation is complete. 

 
Note: When willful overpayments under $500 occur, initiate 
recoupment process. 
 
Non-Willful Client Overpayment 
 
Non-willful client overpayments occur when either:  
 
• The client is unable to understand and perform their 

reporting responsibilities to the department due to 
physical or mental impairment. 

 
• The client has a justifiable explanation for not giving 

correct or full information. 
 
All instances of non-willful client error must be recouped. No 
fraud referral is necessary. 
Provider Errors 
 
Service providers are responsible for correct billing 
procedures. Providers must only bill for services that have 
been authorized by the adult services specialist and that the 
provider has already delivered to the client. 
 
Note: Applicable for home help agency providers and cases 
with multiple individual providers where hours may vary from 
month to month. 
 
Providers are responsible for refunding overpayments 
resulting from an inaccurate submission of hours. Failure to 
bill correctly or refund an overpayment is a provider error. 
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Example: Provider error occurs when the provider bills for, 
and receives payment for services that were not authorized 
by the specialist or for services which were never provided to 
the client. 
 
Administrative Errors 
 
Computer or Mechanical Process Errors 
 
A computer or mechanical process may fail to generate the 
correct payment amount to the client and/or provider 
resulting in an over-payment. The specialist must initiate 
recoupment of the overpayment from the provider or client, 
depending on who was overpaid (dual-party warrant or 
single-party warrant). 
 
Specialist Errors 
 
An adult services specialist error may lead to an 
authorization for more services than the client is entitled to 
receive. The provider delivers, in good faith, the services for 
which the client was not entitled to based on the specialist’s 
error. When this occurs, no recoupment is necessary. 
 
Note: If overpayment occurs and services were not 
provided, recoupment must occur. 
 
RECOUPMENT METHODS 
 
Adult Services Programs 
 
The Michigan Department of Community Health (MDCH) has 
the appropriations for the home help and adult community 
placement programs and is responsible for recoupment of 
overpayments. The adult services specialist is responsible 
for notifying the client or provider of the overpayment. 
 
Note: The adult services specialist must not attempt to 
collect overpayments by withholding a percentage of the 
overpayment amount from future authorizations or reducing 
the full amount from a subsequent month. 
 
When an overpayment occurs in the home help program, the 
adult services specialist must complete the DHS-566, 
Recoupment Letter for Home Help. 
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Recoupment Letter for Home Help (DHS-566) 
 
Instructions 
 
The DHS-566 must: Reflect the time period in which the 
overpayment occurred. Include the amount that is being 
recouped 
 
• Reflect the time period in which the overpayment 

occurred. 
 
• Include the amount that is being recouped 
 

Note: The overpayment amount is the net amount (after 
FICA and union dues deduction), not the cost of care 
(gross) amount.  

 
• If the overpayment occurred over multiple months, the 

DHS-566 must reflect the entire amount to be recouped. 
 

Note: A separate DHS-566 is not required to reflect an 
overpayment for multiple months for the same client.  

 
• Two party warrants issued in the home help program are 

viewed as client payments. Any overpayment involving a 
two party warrant must be treated as a client 
overpayment. 

 
Exception: If the client was deceased or hospitalized and 
did not endorse the warrant, recoupment must be from the 
provider.  
 
• Overpayments must be recouped from the provider for 

single party warrants.  
 
• When there is a fraud referral, do not send a DHS-566 to 

the client/provider. Send a copy to the MDCH Medicaid 
Collections unit with a copy of the DHS-834, Fraud 
Investigation Request. 

 
Note: Warrants that have not been cashed are not 
considered overpayments. These warrants must be returned 
to Treasury and canceled. 
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The DHS-566 must be completed in its entirety and signed 
by the specialist. If information is missing from the letter, the 
specialist will receive a memo from the MDCH Medicaid 
Collections unit requesting the required information. 

 
ASM 165, pages 1-5 of 7 

 
Also applicable to the case here are the federal notice requirements and corresponding 
due process/evidentiary issues found at 42 CFR. These regulations state in part:  

NOTICE 

§431.210   Content of notice. 

A notice required under §431.206 (c)(2), (c)(3), or (c)(4) of 
this subpart must contain— 

(a) A statement of what action the State, skilled nursing 
facility, or nursing facility intends to take; 

(b) The reasons for the intended action; 

(c) The specific regulations that support, or the change in 
Federal or State law that requires, the action; 

(d) An explanation of— 

(1) The individual's right to request an evidentiary hearing if 
one is available, or a State agency hearing; or 

(2) In cases of an action based on a change in law, the 
circumstances under which a hearing will be granted; and  

(e) An explanation of the circumstances under which 
Medicaid is continued if a hearing is requested.  

[44 FR 17932, Mar. 29, 1979, as amended at 57 FR 56505, 
Nov. 30, 1992] 

§431.211   Advance notice. 

The State or local agency must send a notice at least 10 
days before the date of action, except as permitted under 
§§431.213 and 431.214.  

[78 FR 42301, July 15, 2013] 
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Also applicable to the case here are the federal regulations 
regarding procedural rights of the applicant or beneficiary: 
 
 §431.242   Procedural rights of the applicant or 
beneficiary. 

The applicant or beneficiary, or his representative, must be 
given an opportunity to— 

(a) Examine at a reasonable time before the date of the 
hearing and during the hearing: 

(1) The content of the applicant's or beneficiary's case file; 
and 

(2) All documents and records to be used by the State or 
local agency or the skilled nursing facility or nursing facility at 
the hearing; 

(b) Bring witnesses; 

(c) Establish all pertinent facts and circumstances; 

(d) Present an argument without undue interference; and 

(e) Question or refute any testimony or evidence, including 
opportunity to confront and cross-examine adverse 
witnesses.  

[44 FR 17932, Mar. 29, 1979, as amended at 57 FR 56506, 
Nov. 30, 1992] 

Administrative Law Judges are charged with the duty to review the substantial and 
credible evidence of record, apply those facts to the law, regulations and policy, and to 
ensure that the procedures are safeguarded by evidentiary requirements of law and 
administrative practices. Here, this ALJ must conclude that for multiple evidentiary 
reasons, the evidence here does not support finding a recoupment for the reasons set 
forth below.  
 
The complicated procedural history of this case reflects some of the very difficult issues 
here with regards to Appellant’s language barrier. Federal regulations and Department 
policy puts the burden on the Department to be particularly sensitive in cases where the 
beneficiary does not speak English. Here, the language barrier was significant-it caused 
a delay of many months just getting the issue identified and this case scheduled for 
hearing. (AT 5/11/15; Hearing Held 11/17/15-over 6 months). In addition, Appellant 
testified that the Department has always appeared for in-home assessments with an 
interpreter however, at the laws review in June, 2014, the ASW did not bring an 
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interpreter. This is crucial for 2 reasons: 1) this would have been the point in time that 
the logs were presented and/or discussed, and 2) the ASW was not available at hearing 
for testimony, cross-examination, or rebuttal. In addition, Appellant testified that she 
attempted to contact the ASW without success a number of times.  
 
Appellant argues that the notes regarding a 1212 are not correct. Appellant claims that 
she did not receive the notice, and that she returned the logs. 
 
In addition, the notices issued by the Department that were submitted as evidence fail to 
comply with federal and state law and policy. These notices do not contain the law, 
regulations, or policy applicable to support the action violating 42 CFR 431.242.  The 
resulting due process issues that ensue are paramount as the lack of identifying the law 
or statute results in the inability of the client to adequately prepare for a hearing. 
 
Specifically, a Medicaid agency must issue a written notice whenever the agency takes 
any action affecting a recipient’s claim for services. 42 CFR 431.206  Adequate notice is 
a fundamental component of due process. In Mathews v. Eldridge, 424 US 319, 348-
349 (1976), the Supreme Court noted that "[t]he essence of due process is the 
requirement that ‘a person in jeopardy of serious loss (be given) notice of the case 
against him and opportunity to meet it.'" (quoting Joint Anti-Fascist Comm. v. McGrath, 
341 US 123, 171-172. (Frankfurter, J., concurring)). The court in Kapps noted that, "[i]n 
order to be constitutionally adequate, notice of benefits determinations must provide 
claimants with enough information to understand the reasons for the agency's action." 
(404 F.3d at 123) The agency must make the reasons for its decision plain so that "the 
opposing party can evaluate and challenge them." Gaines v. Hadi, Not Reported in 
F.Supp.2d, 2006 WL 6035742 at 12 (S.D.Fla. 2006). "Claimants cannot know whether a 
challenge to an agency's action is warranted, much less formulate an effective 
challenge, if they are not provided with sufficient information to understand the basis for 
the agency's action." Kapps, 404 F.3d at 124.  
 
In Ortiz v. Eichler, 794 F.2d 889 (3d Cir. 1985), the District Court had directed the 
agency to issue notices that comply with the federal regulations and principals of due 
process. The order noted, "[a]t a minimum, these notices shall...3) provide a detailed 
individualized explanation of the reason(s) for the action being taken which includes, in 
terms comprehensible to the claimant, an explanation of why the action is being taken 
and, if the action is being taken because of the claimant's failure to perform an act 
required by a regulation, an explanation of what the claimant was required by the 
regulation to do and why his or her actions failed to meet this standard ...." 794 F.2d at 
892 (quoting the District Court order). The Third Circuit approved this directive, holding 
that it tracked the notice requirements set forth in federal regulations. (National AT 
Advocacy Project; Neighborhood Legal Services, Inc; Sheldon & Straube; February, 
2011). 
  
These legal tenets are part of basic evidentiary requirements in American jurisprudence 
and documented in numerous state law, policy and rules. In the Department of 
Licensing and Regulatory Affairs, MAHS, Administrative Hearing Rules, Rule 106 
requires the ALJ to examine witnesses necessary to complete a record. Rule 106(1)(l), 
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and under R 792.10128, Rule 128(d) opposing parties shall be entitled to cross-
examine witnesses.  The inability to examine all witnesses also violates the due process 
rights under the Rights of parties section R 792.11008 wherein it states that a claimant 
has the right to “question or refute any testimony or evidence, including the opportunity 
to confront and cross-examine adverse witnesses.” Rule 792.11008(i).  
 
In addition, Department of Licensing and Regulatory Affairs, MAHS, Administrative 
Rules, and as applicable the provisions of Chapter 4 of the Michigan Administrative 
Procedures Action of 1969, 1969 PA 306, MCL 24.271 to 24.287 apply. MAPA 
specifically indicates in 24.272 that “A party may cross-examine a witness, including the 
author of a document prepared by, on behalf of, or for the use of the agency and offered 
into evidence. The party may submit rebuttal evidence.” MAPA, 24.272(4).   
 
BAM 600 also states: 

Both the local office and the client or AHR must have 
adequate opportunity to present the case, bring witnesses, 
establish all pertinent facts, argue the case, refute any 
evidence, cross-examine adverse witnesses, and cross-
examine the author of a document offered in evidence. P 36. 

  
The federal requirements found at 42.CFR cited above, as well as those cited above in 
the state laws, policies and rules, are not extra verbiage. They are specifically intended 
to protect and ensure that the individual has a right to understand the action the state 
intends to take, the reasons, and the specific regulations that support the action, and to 
ensure that the hearing process is fair and allows both sides to prepare and understand 
the evidence brought forth. 42 CFR 431.210, 211, 213; MAC R 792.11003; BAM 600; 
ASM 165; and DCH Administrative Hearing Pamphlet. 
 
Here, the action taken by the Department does not comply with federal and state law 
and policy, and thus, cannot be upheld. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 






